THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Oct 07 2022

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Supreme Court Case No. 2021-001520
Appellate Case No. 2018-000791
Case No. 2016-CP-08-0131

Jeffrey Lance Cruce,

Petitioner,

v.

Berkeley County School District,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Nancy Bloodgood, Esquire
Lucy C. Sanders, Esquire
BLOODGOOD & SANDERS, LLC
242 Mathis Ferry Road, Suite 201
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 972-0313
Counsel for the Petitioner

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with prior decisions of the United States Supreme Court and the South Carolina Supreme Court.
2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by relying on its holding in Garrard v. Charleston County School District, 429 S.C. 170, 838 S.E.2d 698 (2019) to support its holding in this case.

INTRODUCTION

South Carolina law regarding the definitions of public officials and limited public figures has previously been based on the holdings of the United States Supreme Court and an analysis of the First Amendment in the context of the public's right to criticize government. Here, the Court of Appeals erred as a matter of law by not following Federal and State precedent. As Justice Toal noted in 1998:

Since the 1960's, the Supreme Court has attempted "to define the proper accommodation between the law of defamation and the freedoms of speech and press protected by the First Amendment." *Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc.*, 418 U.S. 323, 325, 94 S. Ct. 2997, 3000, 41 L.Ed.2d 789, 797 (1974). The effect of these decisions has been the interweaving of federal constitutional principles into the fabric of state defamation law. Because state defamation rules have become inextricably tied to these constitutional principles, it is not possible to review defamation issues in a state law vacuum.

Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502, 517, 506 S.E.2d 497, 505 (1998) (Toal, J., concurring) (referred to as Holtzscheiter II). In this case, the Court of Appeals erred by failing to follow federal precedent when it decided Petitioner should have less protection from defamation as a result of his status as a public employee.

This case involves a defamation *per se* claim brought by a former high school athletic director and football coach based on an email a jury found to be defamatory. The email was circulated to scores of persons after Respondent terminated Petitioner's employment as athletic

director and football coach. The email stated Petitioner's maintenance of student files had created a liability to the school.

The Tort Claims Act exempts governmental entities from liability arising from employee conduct which constitutes actual malice, yet in this case Petitioner never alleged or argued actual malice was present. However, in defending Petitioner's claim, Respondent alleged Petitioner was a public official or limited public figure because if Petitioner was classified in either of these two (2) categories he would be required to prove actual malice to support his defamation claim, which would subject his claim to possible dismissal pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code §15-78-10 *et seq.*

The Lower Court properly held Petitioner was not a public official or limited public figure. The Court of Appeals reversed the Lower Court's finding but erred in failing to follow precedent. Not only did the Court of Appeals err by ignoring precedent, it erred by deciding this case solely based on its previous decision in Garrard v. Charleston County School Dist., 429 S.C. 170, 838 S.E.2d 698 (Ct. App. 2019), a case which also misapplied the standard for public officials and for which this Court has accepted a Petition for Certiorari.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing a trial court's ruling on a directed verdict motion, [an appellate] court will reverse if no evidence supports the trial court's decision or the ruling is controlled by an error of law.” Burnett v. Family Kingdom, Inc., 387 S.C. 183, 188, 691 S.E.2d 170, 173 (Ct. App. 2010). “When reviewing a ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, we must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Hurd v. Williamsburg County, 363 S.C. 421, 426, 611 S.E.2d 488, 491 (2005) (citing F & D Elec. Contractors, Inc. v. Powder Coaters, Inc., 350 S.C. 454, 458, 567 S.E.2d 842, 843 (2002)).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner filed a Complaint in Berkeley County Court of Common Pleas on January 20, 2016 alleging two (2) causes of action: wrongful discharge in violation of public policy and defamation *per se*. (App. pp. 18-34.) Respondent filed an Answer on April 25, 2016 generally denying the allegations. (App. pp. 35-45.) A trial was held September 5-7, 2017, presided over by Judge Kristi Harrington. (App. p. 146.) At the close of Petitioner’s case-in-chief and again at the close of evidence, Respondent made a motion for a directed verdict. Respondent moved for a directed verdict on the wrongful discharge claim and stated only three (3) bases for its directed verdict motion as to the defamation claim: Respondent was a “limited public figure” (App. p. 429, line 21—p. 449, line 8); the January 7th email was not false and defamatory (App. p. 465, lines 11-18); and the January 7th email was privileged. (App. p. 474, lines 1-4.) Appellant included only two (2) of these three (3) directed verdict arguments in its appeal; specifically, Respondent is a “limited public figure” (App. p. 1006)¹ and the January 7th email was not false and defamatory (App. p. 1013). The trial court granted Respondent’s motion for directed verdict as to the wrongful termination claim but denied Respondent’s motion as to the defamation claim and allowed the defamation *per se* claim to proceed to the jury. The jury deliberated more than six (6) hours and returned a verdict in favor of Petitioner. (App. pp. 16-17; pp. 519-521.)

¹ Respondent argued after the trial was over, in its post-trial motion for JNOV, that Petitioner was a “public official.” As a JNOV under Rule 50 (b) SCRPC is essentially a renewal of the motion for a directed verdict (Chapman v. Upstate RV & Marine, 364 S.C. 82, 88, 610 S.E.2d 852, 856 (Ct. App. 2005)), the trial court could not consider argument on matters that were not raised in the directed verdict including whether Petitioner was a public official. “A motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is a renewal of the directed verdict motion and cannot raise grounds beyond those raised in the directed verdict.” Roland v. Palmetto Hills, 308 S.C. 283, 286, 417 S.E.2d 626, 628 (Ct. App. 1992) The issue of whether Petitioner is a public official should not have been considered by the Court of Appeals as it was not raised or ruled on at the directed verdict stage of trial and the terms public official and limited public figure are not synonymous.

Respondent filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the Alternative a New Trial Absolute or a New Trial Nisi Remittitur September 26, 2017. (App. pp. 46-64.) Petitioner filed a Response on October 4, 2017 (App. pp. 65-73) and Respondent filed a Reply (App. pp. 70-83). A hearing was held on Respondent's Motion before the trial judge on March 7, 2018. (App. pp. 84-145.) Judge Harrington issued an Order denying Respondent's post-trial Motion on March 29, 2018. (App. p. 5.)

Respondent appealed to the Court of Appeals. A hearing was held before the Court of Appeals on February 2, 2021. On September 1, 2021, the Court of Appeals issued an Order in this matter, reversing the trial court and the verdict on the basis Petitioner was a public official. Cruce v. Berkeley County School Dist., 435 S.C. 7, 21, 865 S.E.2d 391, 398 (Ct. App. 2021), reh'g denied (Dec. 2, 2021), cert. granted (Sept. 7, 2022).

Petitioner filed a Motion for a Rehearing on September 15, 2021. (App. pp. 1080-91.) An Order denying the Petition for a Rehearing was issued on December 2, 2021. (App. p. 1092.) Petitioner filed a Petition for Certiorari on December 29, 2021. Respondent filed a Return to Petitioner's Writ of Certiorari on February 17, 2022, Petitioner filed a Reply Brief, and Certiorari was granted on September 7, 2022.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner was a high school teacher in Berkeley County for 28 years, an athletic director in at various high schools for a total of 21 years, and head football coach at Berkeley High School before he was terminated as the athletic director and football coach, and reassigned to teach at a middle school in January of 2016. (App. p. 173, lines 6-22; p. 175, lines 2-8; p. 176, line 11—p. 178, line 4; p. 183, lines 13-16; p. 246, line 19—p. 247, line 20; p. 539.) Berkeley High School is

one of seven (7) high schools located in Berkeley County. Berkeley County is one of forty-six counties in South Carolina.

In the 28 years he was a teacher, Petitioner was never disciplined. (App. p. 177, lines 8-10.) Petitioner was “Athletic Director of the Year” for his region the year before he was terminated. (App. p. 218, lines 21-22.) As athletic director, Petitioner was the only person certified to maintain student athlete eligibility files (“eligibility files”) in Berkeley County and the eligibility files Petitioner maintained were audited by the State high school league three (3) times a year. (App. p. 224, line 18- p. 225, line 14; p. 226, lines 2-6.) Petitioner had received a clean audit from the high school league a few months before he was terminated as athletic director. (App. p. 226, lines 16-24.)

The three (3) stated reasons why Petitioner was fired as athletic director and football coach, and transferred to teach at a middle school had nothing to do with maintaining student athlete files. (App. pp. 541-542.) After Petitioner was fired as football coach, several of Appellant’s employees, including athletic trainer Chris Stevens, went into Petitioner’s office and started going through the student athlete files. (App. p. 398, line 1- p. 399, line 4.) Chris Stevens thought there were documents missing from the files and he prepared and sent an email on January 7, 2016 to 45 persons, some of whom Petitioner did not know, stating there were records missing from the eligibility files and the files created a liability to the school, inferring Petitioner was unfit for his job. (App. pp. 282-284 line 7; p. 399; pp. 543-44.) Petitioner alleged the statements were false and defamatory.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. **The Court of Appeals failed to follow Federal and State precedent regarding the definitions of Public Official and Limited Public Figure.**

A. The Court of Appeals failed to follow Federal and State precedent regarding the definition of Public Official.

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the Petitioner, a public school employee, was a public official.² Although the definition of public official has been broadened since 1964 to include persons other than only appointed and elected persons, few states have gone so far as to apply the concept of public official to high school football coaches and teachers. This Court has always followed federal precedent when deciding under what circumstances a person should have less protection from defamation due to his or her position in government, yet the Court of Appeals failed to properly apply and follow federal precedent in deciding this case.

In New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 84 S. Ct. 710 (1964), the United States Supreme Court addressed for the first time the issue of defamatory criticism of a public official as it relates to the First Amendment.³ The Supreme Court held that public officials acting in an executive, legislative or judicial capacity must expect criticism, and unless the criticism is accompanied by actual malice, public officials cannot prevail on a defamation claim.

The theory of our Constitution is that every citizen may speak his mind and every newspaper express its view on matters of

² The issue of whether Petitioner was a public official was not properly preserved for review. Respondent's appeal was based solely on the trial court's ruling on its motion for directed verdict and was, therefore, limited to the issues raised and ruled upon by the trial court regarding Respondent's motion. As stated above, Respondent stated only three (3) bases for its directed verdict motion as to the defamation claim, one of which was that Petitioner was a limited public figure. Respondent never argued during its directed verdict motion that Petitioner was a public official or a public figure, only that he was a limited public figure.

³ It is important to note that this case is not a First Amendment case and does not involve any statements published in newspapers as is the case in Garrard, *supra*. The defamation here took the form of a derogatory email published to scores of people stating Petitioner was a liability to the County.

public concern and may not be barred from speaking or publishing because those in control of government think that what is said or written is unwise, unfair, false, or malicious. In a democratic society, one who assumes to act for the citizens in an executive, legislative, or judicial capacity must expect that his official acts will be commented upon and criticized. Such criticism cannot, in my opinion, be muzzled or deterred by the courts at the instance of public officials under the label of libel.

376 U.S. at 298–99, 84 S. Ct. at 736 (Goldberg, J., concurring) (emphasis added).

The rationale underlying the New York Times holding was that “[t]he right of free public discussion of the stewardship of public officials was ... a fundamental principle of the American form of government.” Id. at 275, 84 S. Ct. at 723. “[F]or ‘public men, are, as it were, public property,’ and ‘discussion cannot be denied and the right, as well as the duty, of criticism must not be stifled.’” Id. at 268, 84 S. Ct. at 720 (quoting Beauharnais v. Illinois, 343 U.S. 250, 263-64, 72 S. Ct. 725, 734 (1952)).

Two years later, the United States Supreme Court decided the case of Rosenblatt v. Baer, 383 U.S. 75, 86 S. Ct. 669 (1966). In Rosenblatt, the Court reiterated that strong debate on public issues should be protected as well as the criticism of governmental officials who have, or appear to have, substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of governmental affairs:

We remarked in New York Times that we had no occasion “to determine how far down into the lower ranks of government employees the ‘public official’ designation would extend for purposes of this rule, or otherwise to specify categories of persons who would or would not be included.” No precise lines need be drawn for the purposes of this case. The motivating force for the decision in New York Times was twofold. We expressed ‘a profound national commitment to the principle that debate on public issue should be uninhibited, robust, and wide-open, and that (such debate) may well include vehement, caustic, and sometimes unpleasantly sharp attacks on government and public officials.’ There is, first, a strong interest in debate on public issues, and, second, a strong interest in debate about those persons who are in a position significantly to influence the resolution of those issues. Criticism of government is at the very

center of the constitutionally protected area of free discussion. Criticism of those responsible for government operations must be free, lest criticism of government itself be penalized. It is clear, therefore, that the ‘public official’ designation applies at the very least to those among the hierarchy of government employees who have, or appear to the public to have, substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of governmental affairs.

383 U.S. at 85, 86 S. Ct. at 675-676 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Thus, although the definition of public official in Rosenblatt was expanded to include government employees who had “substantial control of or responsibility for governmental affairs,” the definition of public official remained limited. As Justice Douglas noted in his concurrence in Rosenblatt, whereas the New York Times case dealt only with an elected official, Rosenblatt expanded the definition to unelected government officials. 383 U.S. at 88, 86 S. Ct. at 677. However, those public officials were still required to have substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of governmental affairs.

South Carolina Supreme Court cases that have addressed this subject have all acknowledged there is a constitutional basis underpinning the definition of public official. In fact, this Court has never deviated from the premise that public officials are persons who have significant control over or responsibility for governmental affairs. This Court has consistently followed federal precedent when deciding under what circumstances a person should have less protection from defamation due to his or her position in government as illustrated by the cases of Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502, 506 S.E.2d 497 (1998) (Holtzscheiter II) and Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC, 368 S.C. 444, 629 S.E.2d 653 (2006).

Although the issue of whether the plaintiff was a public official was not at issue in Holtzscheiter II, Justice Toal cited federal case law in her concurring opinion to define the test for determining classification as a public official. She wrote:

[T]he ‘public official’ designation applies at the very least to those among the hierarchy of government employees who have, or appear to the public to have, substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of governmental affairs. In considering the question whether one is a ‘public official,’ the ‘employee’s position must be one [that] would invite scrutiny and discussion of the person holding it, entirely apart from the particular scrutiny and discussion occasioned by the particular charges in controversy.’

332 S.C. at 520 n.4, 506 S.E.2d at 507 n.4 (Toal, J., concurring) (quoting Rosenblatt, 383 U.S. at 85-86, 86 S.Ct. at 676) (emphasis added). Further, as this Court noted in Erickson, “no one factor is dispositive in the analysis” of whether a particular individual is a public official for purposes of a defamation action. 368 S.C. at 471, 629 S.E.2d at 667. In Erickson, this Court found a plaintiff who was a private guardian *ad litem* was not a public official because she was not a government employee, “much less an official who has or would appear to the public to have substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of government affairs.” Id. Similarly in this case, Petitioner as a public high school football coach, athletic director, and teacher did not have substantial responsibility for, or control over, the conduct of governmental affairs because coaching football, teaching and maintaining student athlete files as athletic director are not governmental affairs. Moreover, at the time he was defamed, Petitioner only held a position as a public school teacher.

As this Court noted in Erickson:

Since *New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 84 S. Ct. 710, 11 L.Ed.2d 686 (1964), federal and state courts have ‘sought to define the accommodation required to assure the vigorous debate on public issues that the First Amendment was designed to protect while at the same time affording protection to the reputations of individuals.’ *Hutchinson v. Proxmire*, 443 U.S. 111, 133–34, 99 S. Ct. 2675, 2687 (1979).

368 S.C. at 467, 629 S.E.2d at 665. The Court of Appeals’ decision in this case is in direct conflict with federal precedent. The New York Times standard allows defamatory criticism of persons in

elected offices who acted on behalf of the public in an executive, judicial or legislative manner. 376 U.S. at 298-299, 84 S. Ct. at 736. Although Rosenblatt expanded the definition of public officials to include not only elected and appointed government officials, but also some unelected officials and employees, the definition of public official remained quite narrow and was only expanded to include those government employees “who have, or appear to have, substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of government affairs.” 383 U.S. at 85, 86 S. Ct. at 675-676. (emphasis added). As explained in Rosenblatt and cited in Holtzscheiter II, the position must be a position that invites scrutiny of the person holding it, not only scrutiny of the issue. Thus, the analysis is two-fold: does the government employee have substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of governmental affairs and does the employee’s position invite scrutiny of the person, apart from scrutiny of the issue?

Until 2019, the Court of Appeals adhered to this Court’s decisions regarding public officials. In 2001, the Court of Appeals followed precedent established in this Court’s holdings in Holtzscheiter II and Erickson and held an assistant principal was not a public official because “[h]is position as assistant principal is not one ‘among the hierarchy of government employees who have, or appear to the public to have, substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of governmental affairs.’” Goodwin v. Kennedy, 347 S.C. 30, 45, 552 S.E.2d 319, 327 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing Rosenblatt v. Baer, 383 U.S. 75, 85, 86 S. Ct. 669 (1966)). Instead of using the same rationale in this case, the Court of Appeals held Petitioner was a public official because it had recently decided in Garrard, *supra* that a football coach at another high school was a public official. Even though the Court of Appeals previously held in Goodwin v. Kennedy that assistant principals were not public officials, its decision here infers teachers are public officials as

Petitioner was a teacher at the time the defamatory email was sent, not a football coach or athletic director.

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