THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Nov 21 2022

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2021-001520
Case No. 2016-CP-08-0131

Jeffrey Lance Cruce,

Petitioner,

v.

Berkeley County School District,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Andrew F. Lindemann
LINDEMANN & DAVIS, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

E. Brandon Gaskins
MOORE & VAN ALLEN, PLLC
78 Wentworth Street
Post Office Box 22828
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 579-7038

Richard J. Morgan
BURR & FORMAN, LLP
1221 Main Street, Suite 1800
Post Office Box 11390

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that Jeffrey Cruce, as the athletic director and head football coach, qualified as a public official, and as such, proof of “actual malice” is an element of his defamation claim, meaning that his claim was correctly found to be barred by sovereign immunity under Section 15-78-60(17).

The Petitioner Jeffrey Cruce contends that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and the United States Supreme Court. That is not the case. In fact, the Court of Appeals correctly applied the precedents from this Court and the United States Supreme Court on identifying a public official.¹

¹ In his petition for writ of certiorari, Cruce raised the following question for review: “Did the Court of Appeals fail to consider that an issue not raised during Appellant’s directed verdict is not preserved for appeal.” The Court of Appeals had rejected Cruce’s claim that the School District did not raise the public official argument in its directed verdict motion. The Court carefully reviewed the directed verdict colloquy and concluded that “the issue was sufficiently argued to the circuit court to address it on appeal.” *Cruce*, 865 S.E.2d at 398. Nonetheless, in his opening brief, Cruce has now abandoned that issue. The issue is mentioned in a four-sentence footnote in his Statement of the Case. *See*, Petitioner’s Brief, p. 3, n.1. An issue is typically treated as abandoned where it is stated “in a short, conclusory statement without supporting authority.” *Fields v. Melrose Limited Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285, n.3 (Ct. App. 1993). *See also*, *Glasscock, Inc. v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 557 S.E.2d 689 (Ct. App. 2001).

Nonetheless, if the Court does not treat the issue as abandoned, the record does demonstrate that the School District raised to the trial court the alternative theories that Cruce was a public official or a limited public figure. (R. 429, 441-442). The trial judge even asked Cruce’s counsel whether she agreed that Cruce was a public official. (R. 441-442). In addition, there were numerous comments by Cruce’s counsel and the trial judge as to whether Cruce was a “limited public official.” (R. 434-436, 438, 441, 443). Cruce’s counsel even discussed limited public figure as being “a subset of public official.” (R. 436). Thus, the colloquy at directed verdict demonstrates that the “public official” issue was raised.

That is also supported by the post-trial proceedings where the parties discussed in detail the public official issue. Cruce’s counsel never objected to the trial court’s consideration of that

This Court has explained that “an important initial step to analyzing any defamation case is determining whether a particular plaintiff is a public official, public figure, or private figure.” *Erickson v. Jones Street Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 629 S.E.2d 653, 666 (2006). “This determination is a matter of law which must be decided by the court on a case by case basis after a careful examination of the facts and circumstances.” *Id.*

While recognizing there is no "all-encompassing definition of 'public official,'" this Court applies the general rule that “a public official is a person who, among the hierarchy of government employees, has or appears to the public to have substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of governmental affairs.” *Id.*, citing *Rosenblatt v. Baer*, 383 U.S. 75, 85 (1966). “In considering the question of whether one is a public official, the employee's position must be one which would invite public scrutiny and discussion of the person holding it, entirely apart from the scrutiny and discussion occasioned by the particular charges in controversy.” *Id.* Importantly, “[t]he status of a public official may be deemed sufficient to warrant application of the *New York Times* privilege, *not because of*

issue, and in fact, she made the same argument that “[a] limited public official is a subset of a public official.” (R. 100). She also argued that “[i]f he's not a limited public official, he's not a public official.” (R. 100). In addition, in its written order, the trial court clearly addresses the “public official” issue and even acknowledges that “[t]he Defendant makes excellent arguments in support of its position that Plaintiff should be classified as a public official.” (R. 4). In sum, the public official issue was certainly raised, argued, and adjudicated in the court below, and, as the Court of Appeals concluded, that issue is sufficiently preserved for appellate review.

the government employee's place on the totem pole, but because of the public interest in a government employee's activity in a particular context.” *Id.* (Emphasis added).

In this case, the Court of Appeals correctly held that Cruce, as the athletic director and head football coach, qualified as a public official. Cruce disputes this by downplaying or deliberately misstating the public interest, the public and media scrutiny, and the actual role that the athletic director and head football coach play, particularly under the facts of this case. He insists that high school football coaches and athletic directors "have no substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of governmental affairs." *See*, Petitioner's Brief, p. 21. However, as this Court establishes in *Erickson* and other cases, the real focus is on whether the employee's position is one which "would invite public scrutiny and discussion of the person holding it." *Erickson*, 629 S.E.2d at 666.

Notwithstanding Cruce's commentary to the contrary, it is well settled that high school and college sports can be and often are the subject of intense public controversy and scrutiny. In *Time, Inc. v. Johnson*, 448 F.2d 378 (4th Cir. 1971), the Fourth Circuit explained that "the *New York Times* privilege is not confined to 'political expression or comment upon public affairs,' nor even matters of social utility or educational value. It embraces the entire range of legitimate public interest." 448 F.2d at 382-383. The Fourth Circuit further recognized that "[s]uch

a test clearly is sufficient to cover sports and sports figures, whose ‘public interest’ character is amply demonstrated by the elaborate sports section in every daily newspaper published in this nation and by the numerous periodicals, such as that involved here, exclusively devoted to sports.” 448 F.2d at 383. That Fourth Circuit case, of course, pre-dates the existence of the internet as a source for sports news, cable sports networks such as ESPN, social media, fantasy leagues, and the like which make sports an even bigger subject of intense public interest today than in 1971. In short, sports is an important part of people’s lives and very clearly is part of the public discourse, including intense public interest and scrutiny of its coaches even on the high school level.

As the record amply reflects, Cruce's position as coach and athletic director drew far more public attention than the average government employee's position. As a coach, his team's games were covered routinely by the local media, as were his efforts as the athletic director to create a hall of fame for Berkeley High School. (R. 552-973). This media attention reflected the public's interest in the Berkeley High School football team, which was as intense (according to Cruce's wife) as fans' interest in NFL teams. (R. 387-389). Moreover, as an athletic director, Cruce oversaw all of the sports at Berkeley High School, which fielded at that time every sport offered in South Carolina except lacrosse. (R. 179). As the record clearly reflects, Cruce’s level of public attention and scrutiny stands in stark contrast to the

lack of public attention and scrutiny typically shown to other teachers at Berkeley High School.

This was particularly true during the 2015 football season given Cruce's use of a controversial and well-publicized no-punt strategy. Prior to that season, Cruce vowed never to punt on fourth down, which was unconventional, and thus commanded substantial public attention and scrutiny. Cruce's no-punt strategy and his team's performance were the subject of numerous local media articles. (R. 897, 901-903, 904-905, 908-909, 910, 912-914, 918, 919-920, 945, 948, 966, 970). The no-punt strategy was even the subject of an article in the September 21, 2015 edition of the *Kansas City Star*, in which Cruce was frequently quoted as a proponent of that strategy. (R. 538-544). In employing such an unconventional approach and then defending it in numerous media opportunities, Cruce brought greater than normal attention to himself and his football team. In effect, Cruce's no-punt strategy commanded greater public attention and scrutiny than a more conventional football coach would receive. The record further reflects that Cruce's strategy was the subject of tremendous public discussion and displeasure. Principal Steven Steele, in fact, testified about a planned fan protest and also the need to provide the coach with police protection at games. (R. 364-365, 546-547).

The Court of Appeals' determination that Cruce qualified as a public official is also fully supported by the Court's earlier decision in *Garrard v. Charleston*

County School District, 429 S.C. 170, 838 S.E.2d 698 (Ct. App. 2019). In that case, the Court of Appeals found that the head football coach at Academic Magnet High School in the Charleston area qualified as a public official. In addition to holding several coaching positions, Coach Walpole in *Garrard* was found to "interact[] with the parents of the athletes after each game and he participates in newspaper and television interviews. Furthermore, as head coach, he is responsible for the oversight of the teams' activities." 838 S.E.2d at 719. The public interest in Cruce and his team, and the public notoriety that arose from Cruce's unconventional approach to football, clearly made Cruce a public official under the *Erickson* analysis.

As the Court of Appeals also noted in *Garrard* and this case, there are numerous cases from other jurisdictions that support the conclusion that a high school athletic director and head football coach qualifies as a "public official." In *Johnson v. Southwestern Newspapers Corp.*, 855 S.W.2d 182 (Tex. App. 1993), the Texas Court of Appeals concluded that a high school athletic director and head football coach qualifies as a "public official." The Texas court first explained that "[t]he 'public official' designation does not apply to all government employees, but applies where 'a position in government has such apparent importance that the public has an independent interest in the qualifications and performance of the person who holds it, beyond the general public interest in the qualifications and

performance of all government employees.” 855 S.W.2d at 186, *citing Rosenblatt*, 383 U.S. at 86. In applying that test, the Texas court explained as follows:

This dual position [as head football coach and athletic director] was, so the record reveals, of such apparent importance that the public had an independent interest in the qualifications and performance of the person who occupied the positions, beyond the general public interest in the qualifications and performance of all government employees.

* * * * *

Johnson's position of and activities as athletic director ... show that he was vested with and exercised significant governmental responsibility on behalf of the school district in his sole operation of the athletic department. As head football coach, Johnson filled a position of such importance that the public not only had, but exhibited, an independent interest in his qualifications and performance, transcending any interest shown in other employees of the school system.

855 S.W.2d at 186-187.

Likewise, the Oklahoma Supreme Court held that a wrestling coach was a public official because his position "was of apparent importance in that public school's athletic program for the public to have an independent interest in [the coach's] performance.” *Johnston v. Corinthian TV Corp.*, 583 P.2d 1101, 1103 (Okla. 1978).

A New Jersey court has similarly reasoned that a public-school athletic director is a public official. In *Standridge v. Ramey*, 733 A.2d 1197 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1999), that court explained:

As athletic director, plaintiff was responsible for managing and supervising all the athletic programs in the Roxbury school district, including twenty-four athletic teams. In performing these responsibilities, plaintiff administered a substantial budget and supervised approximately sixty coaches and other employees. He also spoke at booster club meetings and various other community functions. Moreover, we take note of the fact that the performance of high school athletic teams is often a matter of substantial public interest within a community. Therefore, we conclude that plaintiff was a "public official" and must show actual malice to establish his defamation claims.

733 A.2d at 1201-02.

Moreover, in *Weinberger v. Maplewood Review*, 668 N.W.2d 667 (Minn. 2003), the plaintiff, who was a high school head football coach, brought a defamation action based on allegedly false information published about him in a local newspaper. The Minnesota court determined that the coach was a "public official" and was required to prove actual malice. 668 N.W.2d at 673.

The seminal United States Supreme Court decision in *Curtis Publishing Co. v. Butts*, 388 U.S. 130 (1967), is also instructive. The plaintiff was Wally Butts, who, as the athletic director and head football coach at the University of Georgia, was accused in a newspaper article of "fixing" the outcome of a football game.

The Supreme Court ultimately treated Butts as a “public figure” rather than a “public official” only because he was “not technically a state employee” in holding those positions. Butts was, in actuality, employed by the Georgia Athletic Association, a private corporation. Nonetheless, the Supreme Court acknowledged that “the public interest in education in general, and in the conduct of athletic affairs of educational institutions in particular, justifies constitutional protection of discussion of persons involved in it equivalent to the protection afforded discussion of public officials.” 388 U.S. at 146. The Supreme Court further recognized the “public interest in the materials here involved” and that Butts, as the head football coach, commanded a “substantial amount of public interest.” 388 U.S. at 154. Given the Court’s analysis, it is clear that, had Butts been employed by the State of Georgia rather than a private corporation, the Supreme Court would have clearly concluded that Butts qualified as a “public official” in his roles as athletic director and head football coach.

Thus, there is ample support for the Court of Appeals' ruling as a matter of law that Jeffrey Cruce, as the athletic director and head football coach, qualifies as a public official. Notably, Cruce does not contest the Court of Appeals' ruling that, as a public official, he had the burden of proving actual malice. *See, Erickson*, 629 S.E.2d at 665 (“to prove fault in a defamation action, a plaintiff who is a public official or public figure must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the

defendant acted with actual malice in publishing a false and defamatory statement about the plaintiff"). Likewise, Cruce does not contest that Section 15-78-60(17) of the Tort Claims Act provides that the School District enjoys absolute sovereign immunity for any employee conduct constituting actual malice, and as a result, Cruce's defamation claim against the School District is barred as a matter of law to the extent he qualifies as a public official (or, for that matter, as a limited public figure). *See, Gause v. Doe*, 317 S.C. 39, 451 S.E.2d 408 (Ct. App. 1994).

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